ſ

1992 COURT By 79,251

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 88-2261

THE HERTZ CORPORATION,

Petitioner,

vs .

BILLY JACKSON, by and through his Mother and natural guardian, HENRIETTA WHITTAKER and HENRIETTA WHITAKKER, individually,

Respondent.

PETITION FOR REVIEW OF DECISION OF THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL OF FLORIDA THIRD DISTRICT

BRIEF ON THE MERITS OF PETITIONER THE HERTZ CORPORATION

> STEVEN A. EDELSTEIN, ESQ. FLORIDA BAR NO. 161578 MAW OFFICES OF ROLAND GOMEZ 8100 Oak Lane Suite 400 Miami, FL 33016 (305) 825-5506 (Dade) 766-2990 (Broward)

AL

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This was an action for damages in the Circuit Court of the Eleventh Judicial Circuit in and for Dade County, Florida. Respondent, BILLY **JACKSON**, by and through his Mother and natural guardian, **HENRIETTA WHITAKER** and **HENRIETTA WHITAKER**, individually, were the Plaintiffs. Petitioner, THE **HERTZ CORPORATION**, was the Defendant. In the Brief, the following symbols will be used:

"HERTZ" for THE HERTZ CORPORATION.

- "JACKSON" for BILLY JACKSON, by and through his Mother and natural guardian, HENRIETTA WHITAKER and HENRIETTA WHITAKER, individually.
- "R" for Record on Appeal, with appropriate pagination.
- "T" for Transcript of Testimony and Proceedings, with appropriate pagination.

"A" for Appendix, which includes the original panel opinion and the opinion On Rehearing En Banc, in Jackson v. The Hertz Corp., So. 2d (Fla. 3d DCA 1991), 15 FLW D2927 (December 4, 1990), On Rehearing En Banc, 17 FLW D70 (December 24, 1991) [In the Brief, citations to such opinions will be made to the Appendix, with appropriate pagination, rather than to Florida Law Weekly].

This was a negligence cause of action brought against HERTZ for vicarious liability, relating to the operation of one of its motor vehicles (\mathbf{R} 1-2). During the course of the proceedings, the Complaint was amended, to also claim that HERTZ was negligent in renting the motor vehicle in question (\mathbf{R} 33-37).

The Cause of Action proceeded to trial on June 20, **1988.** During the trial, the Court withheld ruling on the **HERTZ'** Motions for Directed Verdict (T **470**, 604), and denied JACKSON's Motion for Directed Verdict (T 509-512). The trial concluded with a deadlocked jury (T 602).

After the conclusion of the trial, additional argument was presented on HERTZ' Motion for Directed Verdict. Ultimately, the Trial Court entered an Order Granting Motion for Directed Verdict (R 183), and a Final Judgment in favor of HERTZ (R 196). The Final Judgment was appealed to the District Court of Appeal of Florida, Third District, Case No. 88-2261.

The appeal was initially argued before a Three-Judge panel of the District Court, which affirmed the Trial Court in a two (2) to one (1) decision (A 1-17). The District Court, however, granted Rehearing En Banc, and reversed the Trial Court; with six (6) Judges in the Majority holding that a directed verdict should be entered in favor of JACKSON; four (4) Judges partially

dissenting with opinion indicating that the cause of action should be remanded for a new trial on all issues; and one (1) Judge dissenting entirely, indicating adherence to the original panel opinion (A 18-39). The majority opinion included the following certification:

We certify to the supreme court that this decision involves questions of great public importance as to whether the liability of a car rental company under the dangerous instrumentality doctrine is affected by the facts that (a) the rental was secured by fraud, (b) the period for which the vehicle was rented was greatly exceeded and/or (c) the car rental company made efforts to recover the vehicle after it became aware of the fraud and the vehicle was not timely returned (A 32, En Banc Opinion, p. 15).

This Petition for Review follows.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

The primary facts of the case were summarized by the District Court in the opinion of the original panel. That summary was adopted by the majority in the En Banc opinion, and is set forth verbatim as follows:

On February 5, 1985, Hertz entered into a two-day rental agreement with a woman purporting to be Linda Major, and her companion, Lawrence King. The woman presented Hertz with a Visa credit card issued in Linda Major's name. King's driver's license number, the license Mr. expiration date, the issuing state, and King's **age** were entered on the additional authorized operator attachment of the rental agreement. No separate driver's license information was written on the rental agreement for the woman identifying herself as Linda Major. Before relinguishing possession of the vehicle, Hertz ran a credit check on the Visa card presented. Upon receipt of a favorable credit check, Hertz released the vehicle to the above individuals.

Hertz was informed on February 17, 1985, by **Metro-Dade** Police that the Hertz-owned vehicle had been fraudulently leased with a stolen credit card and that the woman who gave her name as Linda Major was an impostor, Thereafter, on February 26, 1985, and March 1, 1985, respectively, Hertz sent certified letters to both renters demanding the return of the automobile. On March 31, 1985 both letters were returned to Hertz as undeliverable. On April 5, 1985, Hertz reported the vehicle as stolen to the police. Eleven days after the Hertz vehicle was reported stolen, the vehicle, operated by Christopher Harris, an alleged participant in the fraud, was involved in an accident, injuring Billy Jackson (A 19, En Banc Opinion, p. 2).

The above summary of the facts, is partially derived **from** the Parties' Joint Pre-Trial Stipulation (R **70-78**).¹, which included the following list of "Stipulated Facts Which Require No Proof At Trial";

1. Ownership of the **1984** Lincoln Town Car bearing the license tag ZAN **178** by The Hertz Corporation,

¹ Stipulations of parties or their attorneys relating to the conduct or the control of their rights, in the trial of a cause or the conduct of litigation, are enforced by the courts, if **such** stipulations are not unreasonable, nor against good morals or sound public policy. **Smith** v. **Smith**, **90 Fla. 824**, **107 So. 257**, **260** (1925). Esch v. Forster, 123 Fla. 905, 168 So. 229, 231 (1936).

This court is committed to the rule that it not only approves **but** favors stipulations and agreements on the part of litigants and counsel designed to simplify, shorten or settle litigation and save costs to the parties, **and** the time of the Court, and when such stipulations or agreements are entered into between parties litigant or their counsel, the same should be enforced by the court, unless good cause is shown to the contrary. **Dunscombe v. Smith, 139 Fla. 497, 190 So. 796, 799 (1939).**

Accord: Federal Land Bank of Columbia v. Brooks, 139 Fla. 506, 190 So. 737 (1939); Welch v. Gray Moss Bondholders Corp. 128 Fla. 722, 175 So. 529 (1937). Further to this, proper stipulations are binding agreements both upon the parties and the courts:

A stipulation properly entered into and relating to a matter upon which it is appropriate to stipulate is binding upon the parties and upon the court. Gunn Plumbing, Inc. v. Dania Bank, 252 So.2d 1, 4 (Fla. 1971).

2. Rental of said vehicle to a person representing herself to be Linda Major on February 5, 1985.

3. That pursuant to the terms of said rental the vehicle was to be returned on February 7, 1985.

4. That the Metro Dade Police Department Auto Theft Division requires that rental car companies send a certified letter to the rentor of a vehicle before it may be reported as stolen.

5. That the larger rental car companies normally send two such certified letters before reporting the vehicle stolen.

6. That The Hertz Corporation did in fact send two certified letters to Linda Major and Lawrence King on February 26, 1985 and March 1, 1985.

7. That the last attempted delivery of said certified letters by the Post Office was on March 31, 1985; thereafter, the Post Office returned said letters to The Hertz Corporation.

8. That the vehicle was reported as stolen by The Hertz Corporation on April 5, 1985 for the first time.

9. That the credit card bearing the name Linda Major, which was used to rent the vehicle, was fraudulently obtained.

10. That The Hertz Corporation does not know who the rental representative was that rented the vehicle to the person presenting herself as Linda Major.

11. On April 25, 1985, Christopher Harris was arrested while in possession of the Hertz vehicle. (R 72).

Some additional facts that were presented at trial are also pertinent, but were not included in either the District Court's opinion or the Parties' Stipulation of Facts. Such facts were provided principally by Metro Dade Police Officer Julia Moore, who testified by deposition at trial. Officer Moore was in charge of the automobile theft investigation relating to the HERTZ vehicle (R 206-238). As part of her investigation, she contacted the real Linda Major (R 215-216), who advised her that Lawrence King was a relation, either a brother or the father of her children. Linda children. Linda Major then told Officer Moore that Lawrence King lived with her for a long time, and that he stole from her (R 216). Linda Major did not go with Lawrence King to rent the HERTZ car, and she knew nothing about it. With regard to Lawrence King, Ms. Major advised Officer Moore that: "He does this to me all the time. I am constantly getting bills where he goes and uses my credit card in my name and buys stuff." (R 227-228).

Significantly, while Officer Moore was investigating the theft of the HERTZ vehicle, she was also investigating a similar theft of **a** National Car Rental vehicle. The National vehicle had been rented by a Linda Major and a Lawrence King at 8:33 P.M. on February **5**, 1985 [the same day **as** the HERTZ vehicle was rented]. The National vehicle had been rented through the **use** of the same credit card that was used in the rental of the stolen HERTZ vehicle (Plaintiffs' Exhibit 1; R 213, 219-220). The National Rental Agreement listed Lawrence King **as** an additional driver, with the Same Driver's License **as** was included on the HERTZ Additional Authorized Driver Attachment (Plaintiffs' Exhibit 1; R **225**).

On April 16, **1985**, eleven **(11)** days after the HERTZ vehicle **was** reported stolen and was entered into the police computer as a stolen vehicle, the accident alleged by JACKSON occurred (**T 185-188**). The accident occurred when BILLY JACKSON, who was riding a bicycle, was struck by the vehicle (**T 188-189**).

After the Accident occurred, the driver of the HERTZ vehicle picked BILLY up, put him in the back seat of the car, and drove him to his grandmother's house, where his mother was waiting

for him (T 191, 202, 210-211). The driver was a six foot, black male with an afro haircut, who then drove BILLY and his mother to Jackson Memorial Hospital (T 8, 239-240).

Ultimately, the stolen National Car Rental vehicle was recovered by the Highland County Police Department on April 15, 1985 (R 219-220); and the HERTZ vehicle was recovered by the City of Miami Police Department on April 25, 1985 (R 218). At the time that the HERTZ vehicle was recovered, it was occupied by Christopher Harris, who was initially arrested for grand theft, but later released (T 13). Christopher Harris was a neighbor of Linda Major, and he had been previously identified as being involved in obtaining the fraudulent credit card which had Linda Major's name on it (T 80-81).

No one was ever able to help the police identify who the driver of the HERTZ vehicle was at the time of the accident (T10). Neither HENRIETTA WHITAKER, BILLY's mother, nor BILLY himself, were able to identify Christopher Harris in police photo line-ups as the operator of the vehicle (T13-14, 238; Plaintiffs' Exhibit 1). At trial, however, BILLY's sister, Marcie Jackson, indicated that she saw the man who was driving the HERTZ vehicle, and identified a photograph of Christopher Harris as that man (T 203).

POINTS INVOLVED ON APPEAL

Ι

WHETHER THIS COURT HAS JURISDICTION OF THIS CAUSE BASED UPON A CERTIFIED QUESTION AND UPON THE EXISTENCE OF A CONFLICT BETWEEN THE DISTRICT COURT'S OPINION AND OPINIONS OF THIS COURT. WHETHER THE OPINION OF THE DISTRICT COURT SHOULD BE QUASHED AS BEING IN CONFLICT WITH EXISTING FLORIDA LAW.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Since this Court has postponed its decision on jurisdiction, HERTZ has briefly addressed this issue, pointing out that jurisdiction exists for two reasons: (1) the existence of certified questions; and (2) the existence of conflict between the District Court opinion and decisions of this **Court**.

With respect to the merits of this Petition for Review, HERTZ has pointed out conflicts between the District Court's En Banc Opinion, which directed that judgment on liability be entered for JACKSON, and this Court's decisions in Susco Car Rental System of Fla. v. Leonard, 112 So.2d 832 (Fla. 1959), Thomas v. Atlantic Associates, Inc., 226 So,2d 100 (Fla. 1969), and Stupak v. Winter Park Leasing, Inc., 585 So, 2d 283 (Fla. 1991). In **so** doing, **HERTZ** has cited to numerous statutes and cases defining what this Court intended by language in Susco that "only a breach of custody amounting to a species of conversion or theft will relieve an owner" of a motor vehicle of responsibility for its negligent operation. The District Court's rejection of such statutes is a misapplication of Florida law. Further, the District Court's discussion of whether an action for "conversion" can be maintained by the owner of a motor vehicle **as** against a bona fide purchaser is intellectually interesting, but is in total conflict with decisions

of **all** other Florida appellate courts relating to the rights of **owners** of motor vehicles which have been stolen.

HERTZ has pointed out that there is no factual issue presented, since the parties stipulated to the fact that the HERTZ vehicle was obtained through fraud, that HERTZ complied with the requirements of the local police authorities by sending out certified letters before reporting its vehicle stolen, and that it subsequently reported the vehicle stolen eleven (11) days prior to the alleged accident. As a consequence, not only should there be no directed verdict for JACKSON, but the original decision of the trial court, directing a verdict for HERTZ, should be reinstated.

ARGUMENT

Ι

THIS COURT HAS JURISDICTION OF THIS CAUSE BASED UPON A CERTIFIED QUESTION AND UPON THE EXISTENCE OF **A** CONFLICT BETWEEN **THE** DISTRICT COURT'S OPINION AND OPINIONS OF THIS COURT.

Jurisdiction of this Court exists pursuant to Art. V, \$\$3(b)(3) and (4), Fla. Const. and Fla.R.App.P. 9.030(a)(2)(A)(iv) and (v). Jurisdiction pursuant to Art. V, \$3(b)(4) Fla. Const. and Fla.R.App.P. 9.030(a)(2)(A)(v) vests, based upon questions certified by the District Court of Appeal, Third District, to be of great public importance. In its Notice to Invoke Discretionary Jurisdiction, HERTZ pointed out that jurisdiction also vests pursuant to Art. V, \$3(b)(3) Fla. Const. and Fla.R.App.P. 9.030(a)(2)(A)(iv), based upon the fact that the majority opinion of the District Court expressly and directly conflicts with the decisions of this Court in Susco Car Rental System of Fla. v. Leonard, 112 So.2d 832 (Fla. 1959), in Thomas v. Atlantic Associates, Inc., 226 So.2d 100 (Fla. 1969), and in Stupak v. Winter Park Leasing, Inc., 585 So.2d 283 (Fla. 1991).² The extent of such conflicts is discussed throughout the brief.

II

THE OPINION OF THE DISTRICT COURT SHOULD BE QUASHED **AS** BEING IN CONFLICT WITH EXISTING FLORIDA LAW.

Florida's dangerous instrumentality doctrine, which imposes non-delegable vicarious liability upon the owner of a motor vehicle who voluntarily entrusts it to another, was originally described in Anderson v. Southern Cotton Oil Co., 73 Fla. 432, 74 So. 975 (1917) and Southern Cotton Oil Co. v. Anderson, 80 Fla. 441, 86 So. 629 (1920). In Susco Car Rental System of Fla. v.

The District Court, in Note 2 to the En Banc Opinion, recognized potential conflict between the present case and Stupak V. Winter Park Leasing, Inc., supra:

It must be acknowledged that language in Stupak V. Winter Park Leasing, Inc., **585 So.2d** 283 (Fla. **1991)** is seemingly at variance with several of the principles and conclusions contained in this opinion, which was almost completely prepared prior to <u>Stupak's</u> release

Finally, if we are wrong about any of this, including our view of <u>Stupak</u>, the supreme court will tell us so in answer to the certified question posed in this opinion (or on the basis of its taking jurisdiction because this decision is in conflict with <u>Stupak</u>)(A 22, En Banc Opinion, **p. 5**, N. 2).

Leonard, 112 \$0.2d 832 (Fla. 1959), this Court clarified the doctrine **as** follows:

In the final analysis, while the rule governing liability of an owner of a dangerous agency who permits it to be used by another is based on consent, the essential authority or consent is simply consent to the use or operation of such an instrumentality beyond his own immediate control. Only to that limited extent is the issue pertinent when members of the public are injured by its operation, and only in a situation where the vehicle is not in operation pursuant to his authority, or where he has in fact been deprived of the incidents of ownership, can such an owner escape responsibility. 112 So.2d at 837.

It was recognized that while contracts between a rental car company or agency and the lessee of a motor vehicle may place restrictions on the use of the vehicle, such limitations are totally unrelated to the liabilities imposed by law upon the owner of the motor vehicle for its negligent operation.

In deciding Susco, supra, however, this Court also recognized that where rental vehicles are concerned, there is an exception to the dangerous instrumentality-entrustment doctrine in Florida, as follows:

the logical **rule**, and, **we** think, the prevailing rationale of the cases, is that when control of such a [rental] vehicle is voluntarily relinquished to another, only **a** breach of custody amounting to a species of conversion or theft will relieve an owner of responsibility for its use or misuse. 112 So.2d at 835-836.

This language was subsequently se-adopted by this Court in Thomas v. Atlantic Associates, Inc., 226 **So.2d** 100 (Fla. **1969**), an accident case where an employee was given unrestricted use of his employer's motor vehicle, and his 13 year old daughter took the keys to the vehicle, which her father had left on his dresser. It was recognized that the owner of the vehicle had given its consent to the use or operation of the vehicle beyond its immediate control, as a consequence of which the Court indicated that:

the only real issue was whether the owner had "in fact been deprived of the incidents of ownership" or, as stated elsewhere in Susco, there had been "a breach of custody amounting to a species of conversion or theft." Insofar as the decision here reviewed may have failed to take into consideration this question, it is in direct conflict with Susco, supra, 112 So.2d 832. 226 So.2d at 102.

Most recently, the language of Susco, supra, was adopted in Stupak v. Winter Park Leasing, Inc., 585 §0.2d 283 (Fla. 1991). In Stupak, a motor vehicle was rented pursuant to an agreement which contained a provision indicating that the failure to return the vehicle by the due date would be considered theft by conversion. The alleged accident occurred approximately two (2) hours after the rental agreement expired.³ Recognizing the existence of conflicting evidence, and citing Susco's language, this Court quashed the affirmance of a summary judgment for the Leasing company, indicating that:

The question of whether Flory's use of the car beyond the expiration date of the rental agreement constituted a theft or conversion is a genuine issue of material fact which precludes summary judgment in this case. See Tribbitt v. Crown Contractors, Inc., 513 So.2d 1084 (Fla. 1st DCA 1987). 585 So.2d at 284.

Despite the fact that this Court has adopted the language of Susco as the law in Florida, the District Court in the present case, has characterized such language as 'loften-cited dictum" (A

³ The rental agreement expired on November 1, p.m., 1987, and the accident occurred at approximately 2 a.m. on November 2, 1987.

26, En Banc Opinion, p. 9), and has refused to accept or follow it. In so doing, the opinion of the District Court "is in direct conflict with Susco, supra, 112 So.2d 832", Thomas v. Atlantic Associates, Inc., supra at 102, as well as being in conflict with Thomas v. Atlantic Associates, Inc. and Stupak v. Winter Park Leasing, Inc., supra.

In the present case, there is no question that the HERTZ vehicle was the subject of "a breach of custody amounting to a species of conversion or theft". The parties specifically stipulated that the vehicle was rented to a person purporting to be someone else, and that a fraudulently obtained credit card was used to effectuate the rental. Moreover, the evidence at trial clearly indicated that on the same day, an identical fraud was perpetrated on National Car Rental, which rented a vehicle to the same individuals, with the same license and credit card, under the same circumstances.

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