0 Y)

FILED //

AR 25 1992

Chief Diputy Clark

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 79,251

(Florida Bar #137172)

THE HERTZ CORPORATION,

Petitioner,

vs.

BILLY JACKSON, by and through his Mother and natural guardian, HENRIETTA WHITTAKER and HENRIETTA WHITAKKER, individually,

Respondents.

## BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS ON THE MERITS

PERSE, P.And& GINSBERG, P.A.

JAY ROTHLEIN, ESQUIRE Attorneys for Respondents 410 Concord Building 66 West Flagler Street Miami, Florida 33130 (305) 358-0427

#

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

At pages 15-21 of its brief the defendant argues why it feels a violation or the criminal laws should serve to exonerate

it (a <u>rental car company</u>) from civil liability for damages/injuries caused by the vehicle's misuse. Plaintiffs suggest such arguments are (and should be <u>deemed</u>) "unavailing."

First, and foremost, there was an entrustment. No one snuck into the Hertz parking lot in the middle of the night and under cover of darkness hot-wired the vehicle and drove off into the night.

Second, under extant Florida law how the "entrustment" came about is irrelevant! As the majority opinion noted:

"It would fatally compromise the interests of the innocent public if a rent-a-car agency. .can avoid ...liability if it is given a bad check, a counterfeit bill or a fraudulent driver's license--all of which involve violations of the criminal law, but none of which should affect the owner's tort liability for its automobile." 590 So. 2d at p. 939.

In accord: TILLMAN, 175 So. 2d at p. 796.

At page 13 of the defendant's brief it is suggested:

"In the present case, there is no question that the <a href="Hertz vehicle was the subject of 'a breach of custody amounting to a species of conversion or theft." The parties specifically stipulated that the vehicle was rented to a person purporting to be someone else, and that a fraudulently obtained credit card was used to effectuate the rental. ."

The "suggestion" is, of course, totally at odds with the decisions in this case, in BOSTIC, and in TILLMAN. More importantly, the suggestion ignores the obvious distinctions between "custody" and "ownership." Where, as here, the vehicle's owner entrusts the vehicle to a lessee, there occurs only a "consent to use."

See: TILLMAN, supra, and SUSCO, supra. The person to whom the car was entrusted then (and only then) "has custody" of the

vehicle. If during that period of time the vehicle is

(not further "entrusted") there certainly could occur a "breach

of custody" sufficient, under extant law, to relieve the owner

of responsibility. But that is not this case which involves the

owner's consent to the lessee to use of the vehicle! The matter

is one of public policy:

"The dangerous instrumentality doctrine is a unique contribution of the Florida judiciary to the common law of this state. In its broad outlines, it imposes strict, vicarious responsibility upon the owner or other possessor of a motor vehicle who voluntarily entrusts it to another for any subsequent negligent operation which injures a member of the traveling public (citations omitted). This liability extends to the negligent act of whomever is subsequently allowed to drive the car (citations omitted). . .and 'no matter where the driver goes, starts or stops. '. . . (citations omitted). Furthermore, where 'original entrustment' is shown to exist, liability thus imposed on the owner will not be altered because of a departure beyond the scope of authority. (Citation omitted). 590 So. 2d at p. 937.

The defendant's "suggestions" should be disapproved and the en bane majority opinion be approved as the law for the State of Florida.

Although plaintiffs take no issue with the en banc majority opinion (and again urge its adoption and approval by this Court) still, in an abundance of appellate caution, should this Court be hesitant to go as far as the majority opinion suggests [See, for example: JACKSON, 590 So. 2d 929 at p. 943 (HUBBART, Judge, partially dissenting)]:

"I entirely agree with the court--and disagree with the panel majority--that where the owner of a motor vehicle voluntarily relinquishes control of the vehicle to another, the owner is liable for the subsequent negligent operation of such vehicle under the dangerous instrumentality doctrine—even though the vehicle was initially procured from the owner, as here, through fraud. I disagree with the court, however, that 'this liability continues (indefinitely) for any negligent operation of the (vehicle) no matter who does it or where or when it occurs.' See page 941. •

"I think. . .that at some point in time a vehicle, which is procured from the owner by fraud and not returned, must be considered as converted or stolen, so as to absolve the owner of legal responsibility under the dangerous instrumentality doctrine for the vehicle's subsequent negligent operation. I would hold that such a point is reached after a reasonable length of time has elapsed from the date the vehicle is relinquished by the owner, without the vehicle having been returned, so that it may be inferred that the vehicle has been appropriated by another without the consent of the owner; in no event, however, should such a reasonable time exceed one year from the date the owner relinquishes possession of the vehicle, as by then an inference of theft or conversion would be irresistible.

"In determining what constitutes a reasonable time within this one year period after which a vehicle secured by fraud may properly be considered converted or stolen, I think the totality of the circumstances of the case should be taken into account—including what efforts, if any, the owner has made to recover the vehicle. . " 590 So. 2d at p. 943.

These plaintiffs would suggest to this Court that, <u>under the subject facts</u>, even under Judge Hubbart's "partial dissent", a directed verdict for the plaintiffs should be affirmed,

At the time the defendant ultimately decided to send letters (demanding return of the vehicle) # the defendant already <a href="mailto:knew">knew</a>:

1. The real **Linda** Major did not have the car. Plaintiffs would posit that sending a letter to her demanding its return was useless (to say the least);

- 2. The person who rented the car was already determined not to be the credit card "owner" and was past the two-day rental time. Defendant's insistence on sending a letter (to "the thief") under this circumstance was a true exercise in illogic;
- 3. The police already had been informed of the location of the vehicle and were "merely waiting" for defendant's "permis-sion" to pick it up;
- 4. Detective **Crosby** advised Hertz on February 17, 1985 that a vehicle which it owned was involved in a fraudulent offense. (T. 174, 175). When Detective Crosby notified Hertz, he informed it not about any vehicle they owned but about a specific vehicle of which he had the tag number and vehicle identification number. As he explained:

"It is strictly up to them and what they do with the matter after they are contacted. ..." (T. 176, 177).

Given the above circumstances, it can be argued that assuming this Court were to hold that the liability of a car rental company could be affected by the facts that the period for which the vehicle was rented was "greatly" exceeded or the rental car company made efforts to recover the vehicle after it became aware of the fraud and that the vehicle was not timely returned, a directed verdict for the plaintiffs should still stand. However, plaintiffs would again urge this Court to not embrace a rule which would allow and/or encourage rental car companies to exonerate themselves through inclusion into their rental contracts of "conditions", "terms" and other exculpatory matters:

"Finally, we turn to the argued effect of Hertz' attempts to reclaim its vehicle after it became aware of the fraud and the fact that the car had not been returned on time. While we may share the view that these efforts were desultory at best, we do not pursue the issue because we are convinced that no such efforts, even heroic ones, can be effective to obviate the owner's liability under the doctrine. We have seen in this regard that that liability both arises and is complete when the owner consents to the use of the vehicle 'beyond his own immediate control', Susco, (citation omitted) and that this liability continues for any negligent operation of the car no matter who does it or where or when it occurs [but, see STUPAK]. It would be, again, contrary to the very nature of the liability to suggest that it may be avoided by a subsequent attempt to revoke the irrevocable -- the owner's responsibility for the car being on the highway in a possession to injure the plaintiff.

"All in all, we consider, in the words of an early Florida case on the issue, that Hertz' attempts to avoid liability under the facts presented are:

'entirely beyond our conception of the responsibility one should assume where he is in the business of entrusting vehicles of such character to another for a price.'

(Citation omitted). On the basis of the dangerous instrumentality doctrine, then, we hold that Hertz' liability has been established as a matter of law..." 590 So. 2d at pp. 941 and 942.

In arguing for a change in the law, in arguing against the en banc majority opinion, in suggesting its entitlement to a directed verdict, and in urging a weakening of SUSCO and its progeny, defendant (subsilentio) pushes for a change in this State's public policy. The arguments advanced by the defendant are all premised upon applying principles of the criminal law to the circumstances of this (civil) case and are buttressed by out-of-state authorities whose jurisdictions are not public policy concerned with the dangerous instrumentality doctrine. The

defendant's arguments are obviously motivated by a desire to foster its own financial interests. The protestations directed against the majority opinion (while expected, and from the defendant's point of view are "appropriate") should be rejected by this Court. The en banc majority opinion is straightforward and well reasoned. No matter <a href="how">how</a> the Court reached the result it did, the result it reached is fair, right and just. Equally as important is the fact that the result is consistent with, not contrary to, extant Florida public policy and case law. Because it is, it should be approved.

В.

THE DECISION HEREIN SOUGHT TO BE REVIEWED IS NOT IN CONFLICT WITH STUPAK V. WINTER PARK LEASING, INC., SUPRA.

The plaintiffs would respectfully suggest to this Court that there exists no conflict between the instant cause and STUPAK. Because there exists no conflict, the opinion of the District Court of Appeal, Third District, should be approved and discretionary review denied.

This Court's opinion in STUPAK does not compel a result different than the District Court's majority en banc opinion suggests. What, as relevant here, appears to be the heart and soul of the STUPAK decision was the inclusion into that rental agreement of the condition:

"that vehicles not returned by the due date are considered theft by conversion." STUPAK, 585 So. 2d at  $\bf p$ . 284.

The STUPAK contract provision which provided the foundation for the defendant's ability there to generate and establish a fact question is not present here. As such, no matter what this Court does, if anything, with STUPAK, plaintiffs here are still entitled to a directed verdict. This case does not fall within the "STUPAK rule."

The reference in STUPAK to the particular condition of the rental agreement is directly contrary to the thrust of SUSCO and its progeny! That contract provision should be held against public policy as the keeping of a leased vehicle "overtime" should be deemed to be a breach of the bailment and not a conversion. See: SUSCO, supra.

As the en banc majority opinion correctly recognized, the language in STUPAK is seemingly at variance with several of the principles and conclusions contained in the District Court's opinion which was almost completely prepared prior to STUPAK's release. However, as the District Court of: Appeal, Third District, correctly noted:

"We do not consider that <u>Stupak</u> requires a contrary result because (1) the rental agreement before us <u>does</u> not contain the provisions concerning theft and conversion which were present in that case and (2) very much more important, the case was decided only upon the ciaim of the owner of the vehicle to a summary judgment in its favor. Thus, the rejection of that contention did not require or even involve a determination that the <u>plaintiff</u> was entitled to judgment in his favor on the dangerous instrumentality issue." 590 So. 2d at p. 938,

There exists no real conflict between this case and STUPAK.

Assuming the existence of conflict, plaintiffs would urge this

Court to adhere to SUSCO and its progeny and to recede from that language in STUPAK which appears to be directly contrary to the thrust of SUSCO and those many similar cases which clearly hold that a rental car company <u>may</u> not limit its liability to innocent persons by the restrictive terms of its contract with the renter or lessee:

"It does not stand to reason that, if a rental company is liable notwithstanding the breach of a specific agreement as to the driver, the state or the length of time in which the car is to be used, it may nevertheless achieve a contrary result simply by unilaterally calling such a breach a 'conversion' or 'theft.' No company should be permitted to use such a ploy, one obviously drafted with the language of Susco in mind, as a means of evading its responsibility--anymore than it could claim that a 'conversion' has occurred when the driver exceeds the speed limit or an employer could evade respondeat superior liability by stating that any violation of the traffic laws is beyond the employee's scope of employment. See Susco, id. Instead, the existence of an exculpatory species of conversion or theft must be one for the courts alone to decide on the basis of the underlying policies the dangerous instrumentality doctrine is designed to vindicate. As we hold in this opinion, no such 'species' occurred here. . . . 590 So. 2d at p. 938, footnote 2.

The plaintiffs would respectfully suggest to this Court that the District Court of Appeal, Third District, should be advised that its opinion is legally sound, consistent with prior opinions of this Court, and is not in conflict with STUPAK. To the extent that STUPAK conflicts with SUSCO, this Court should hold that STUPAK (as to this limited issue) was erroneously decided and does not accurately reflect the current state of Florida law on this subject matter.

Parenthetically, it should be noted that this Court's citation in STUPAK to TRIBBITT v. CROWN CONTRACTORS, INC., 513 So. 2d 1084 (Fla.App.lst 1987) (heavily relied upon by the defendant in its main brief) neither warrants a belief that there is a weakening of the public policy in this State on the subject issue nor that it is supportive of the defendant's position. TRIBBITT v. CROWN CONTRACTORS, INC. rejected the defendant's contention that the lease provision exonerated the defendants. The Court in TRIBBITT followed SUSCO and held:

". . .The real issue under the facts of this case .is whether a conversion occurred." 513 So. 2d at page 1087.

In TRIBBITT the car was owned by the defendant, Crown, and leased by Crown to derendant, Ensco. Ensco assigned the vehicle to an employee, Brashier, for his business and personal use. Brashier allowed Jacobs to drive the vehicle. Tribbitt, while riding as a passenger in a car driven by his wife, was injured when their car was struck from the rear by the car operated by Jacobs. Tribbitt is factually distinguishable from the instant cause for all of the reasons heretofore argued in Section "A", supra. Further, TRIBBITT was decided on motion for summary judgment and a summary judgment in favor of the defendants was reversed because:

". . The thrust of the affidavits was that the driver was operating the vehicle without the knowledge and consent of the Crown and Ensco. However, the affidavits failed to eliminate as a genuine issue the question as to whether Jacobs' operation of the vehicle constituted a species of conversion or theft." 513 So. 2d at p. 1087.

The instant cause presents no such similar situation. To the extent that STUPAK relies upon TRIBBITT, it must be deemed limited to the holding that where the record fails to eliminate as a genuine issue the question of whether or not operation of the vehicle constituted a species of conversion or theft, a summary final judgment must be reversed. In point of fact, TRIBBITT itself would be in conflict with STUPAK as the opinion did, at all times pertinent, embrace SUSCO.

For the reasons heretofore advanced, it is clear there exists no conflict between the instant cause and STUPAK.

VIII.

#### CONCLUSION

Based upon the foregoing reasons and citations of authority the plaintiffs respectfully urge this Honorable Court to answer the certified question in the negative, to hold there exists no conflict between the instant cause and STUPAK, to recede from that portion of STUPAK which appears to be in conflict with SUSCO, and to approve the en banc majority opinion as the law in the State of Florida.